Federal Court Finds Texas
Tax Credit Allocation System
Violates Fair Housing Act
Following a bench trial, a federal district court has
ruled that a Texas housing agency’s method of allocating
Low-Income Housing Tax Credits has a disparate racial
impact in violation of the federal Fair Housing Act (FHA).1
The court earlier had ruled that the plaintiff Inclusive
Communities Project (ICP) had stated a prima facie case
of disparate impact discrimination, granting partial summary judgment for ICP.2 That ruling set the stage for a trial
on whether the Texas Department of Housing and Community Affairs (TDHCA) could demonstrate a legally sufficient justification for the policy and that there were no
less discriminatory alternatives. The court’s most recent
decision holds that TDHCA failed to carry its burden and
finds in favor of ICP’s disparate impact claim.

Background
Through the qualified allocation plan (QAP) process
used for competitively allocating credits, state tax credit
allocation agencies can influence the location of housing built under the LIHTC program. In Texas, and likely
many other states,3 LIHTC developments serving families
are disproportionately located in areas with high concentrations of both poverty and people of color.
ICP assists low-income families, primarily AfricanAmerican, in finding housing in high-opportunity,
racially integrated areas. After unsuccessful attempts to
change TDHCA’s tax credit allocation policies, ICP sued
TDHCA. In its 2008 complaint, ICP alleged that TDHCA
had violated the FHA, the Equal Protection Clause of
the Fourteenth Amendment, and 42 U.S.C. § 1982, which
gives all U.S. citizens the same right to lease property as
Caucasian citizens. ICP asserted that TDHCA used race
as a consideration in siting LIHTC properties, and disproportionately allocated tax credits in areas primarily
comprised of people of color while denying credits in
predominantly Caucasian neighborhoods. ICP alleged
that these practices made housing unavailable based on
race, color and national origin.4 TDHCA’s earlier attempts
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to dismiss the case, based on alleged lack of standing
and joinder issues, failed.5 In September 2010, the court
ruled that ICP established a prima facie case of racial discrimination under a disparate impact theory, and that ICP
demonstrated standing.6

The Prior Ruling on ICP’s Prima Facie Case
The court’s 2010 decision held that ICP established a
prima facie case for its claims under the FHA, 42 U.S.C.
§ 1982 and the Equal Protection Clause (actionable through
§ 1983).7 On the FHA disparate impact claim, ICP showed
that the TDHCA’s practice had an adverse impact on a protected class and produced a segregative effect. ICP relied
on statistical evidence showing that TDHCA approved
LIHTC developments for families in areas of high minority concentration at significantly greater rates than in predominantly Caucasian areas. On its § 1982 and Fourteenth
Amendment claims alleging intentional discrimination by
TDHCA, the court found a prima facie case (establishing
an inference of discrimination) based on both statistical
evidence and various TDHCA policy changes and actions.
In the proceedings surrounding the 2010 ruling,
TDHCA sought to rebut ICP’s prima facie case by arguing
that its actions furthered a compelling government interest and that it had a legitimate nondiscriminatory reason
for its inequitable allocation. It had pointed primarily to
the tax credit statute,8 which requires that credit allocation agencies use criteria that favor projects that serve
the lowest-income families and are located in designated
low-income neighborhoods. However, because TDHCA
presented no evidence that it could not comply with both
the tax credit statute and the FHA, the court rejected the
sufficiency of TDHCA’s rebuttal contention for the FHA
disparate impact claim,9 and denied it summary judgment. On ICP’s § 1982 and Equal Protection claims involving intentional discrimination, TDHCA offered a similar
justification based on the LIHTC statute, which the court
found sufficient to satisfy the agency’s burden of production with regard to providing a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its actions. However, because ICP had
presented enough evidence concerning the pretextual
nature of TDHCA’s reasons, the court denied TDHCA’s
motion for summary judgment on these claims.10 Because
these rulings did not resolve the ultimate merits of ICP’s
claims, a trial on these issues was necessary.

1

Page 126

5
Inclusive Communities Project v. Texas Dep’t. of Hous. & Cmty.
Affairs, 2008 WL 5191935 (N.D. Tex. Dec. 11, 2008) [hereinafter ICP I].
For background information see NHLP, Fair Housing Tax Credit Case
Survives Motion to Dismiss, 39 Hous. L. Bull. 1, 10 (Jan. 2009) and NHLP,
Texas Group Files Suit Alleging LIHTC Program Perpetuates Segregation, 38
Hous. L. Bull 135, 146 (July 2008).
6
ICP II, 749 F. Supp. 2d at 497, 500.
7
Id. at 500, 502.
8
26 U.S.C. § 42 (Westlaw Apr. 18, 2012).
9
ICP II, 749 F. Supp. 2d at 504.
10
Id. at 506.

Housing Law Bulletin • Volume 42

The Trial
ICP’s case challenged TDHCA’s disproportionate
approval of LIHTCs for family developments in neighborhoods primarily occupied by people of color, and its
disproportionate denial of family developments in predominantly Caucasian neighborhoods. ICP essentially
asserted that, despite federal and state laws governing
the QAP process, TDHCA had discretion in making final
decisions regarding the allocation of both 4% and 9% tax
credits.11 ICP claimed that TDHCA uses this discretion to
make housing and financial assistance for LIHTC housing
unavailable because of race, in violation of the FHA.12 ICP
also claimed that TDHCA used race as a factor in allocating tax credits, in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment
and § 1982.
ICP sought to prove the intentional discrimination
claims, not by direct evidence, but by circumstantial evidence.13 At trial, the court’s task was to determine whether
ICP had proven intentional discrimination by considering
the strength of the prima facie case and the defendant’s
explanation. Here, the court found ICP failed to carry its
burden.14
TDHCA offered evidence of its duty to create selection criteria in accordance with federal and state laws and
that its staff evaluated applications and recommended
developments accordingly, for nondiscriminatory reasons and without discriminatory intent. The court did not
credit ICP’s efforts to prove that TDHCA intentionally discriminated when denying approval to proposed LIHTC
developments in predominantly Caucasian areas, finding nondiscriminatory reasons for numerous decisions.15
The court also credited TDHCA’s efforts to encourage
development in high-opportunity areas, including urging the Texas legislature to revise statutes governing the
QAP and implementing such changes, as well as granting
more points and a basis boost to high-opportunity properties.16 Similarly, the court found that other TDHCA actions
favoring areas predominantly populated by people of
color were in fact supported by legitimate nondiscriminatory reasons, such as financial feasibility. Finally, the court
found that ICP failed to prove that the state agency’s justifications to rebut the prima facie case were pretextual, finding they were supported by sufficient nondiscriminatory
reasons.17 The court therefore found in favor of TDHCA on
the intentional discrimination claims.
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However, because ICP had demonstrated a prima facie
case on its FHA disparate impact claim, TDHCA had the
burden to prove that its actions furthered a governmental
interest that was bona fide and legitimate and that there
were no less discriminatory alternatives to its policy.18 To
make this determination, the court elected to weigh the
adverse impact against the TDHCA’s justification, rather
than pursue a balancing approach.
TDHCA proffered an interest in awarding tax credits
in an objective, transparent, predictable and race-neutral
manner. It maintained that federal and state law left it with
limited discretion, allowing it to modify only non-statutory
criteria, and to “forward commit” credits to unsuccessful
applications from those that would be made available in a
subsequent year. To support its asserted interests, TDHCA
also pointed to its efforts to award a “basis boost” in 2009
to developments in high-opportunity areas.19 The state
agency essentially abandoned any effort to show less discriminatory alternatives to its scoring system and approval
practices, simply asserting that none exists.
ICP responded that TDHCA must justify not just statutory requirements, but its practices of disproportionately
approving family properties in neighborhoods predominantly occupied by people of color. ICP also probed the
agency’s failure to explore less discriminatory alternatives,
including ICP’s proposed remedy of setting aside credits
for developments in high-opportunity areas.
For ease of analysis, the court assumed that TDHCA’s interests were legitimate, and focused its analysis
on whether the agency had carried its burden to demonstrate the absence of any less discriminatory alternatives
to advance them. After a searching inquiry, the court concluded that TDHCA had failed to demonstrate that alternatives with a less discriminatory impact would impair its
asserted interests.
Piercing the agency’s claims of limited discretion, the
court identified substantial TDHCA discretion within the
federal and state20 statutory framework that could alleviate
discriminatory impact while furthering the state’s asserted
interests. Although recognizing that the agency had taken
some steps to modify its allocation system to provide points
for criteria beyond the state’s statutory priorities, the court
determined that TDHCA could do much more. Specifically,
the court found that TDHCA could:
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change the scoring system for 9% credits by modifying and weighting various statutory and discretionary criteria differently, by revising definitions and
shuffling required elements, and by separately specifying points for developments in high-opportunity
areas;
use forward commitments in furtherance of desegregation goals;
more specifically define “high-opportunity areas” for
locations where developments can receive the basis
boost;

exercise general discretion, outside of the point system, to reduce discriminatory impacts of its funding
decisions.21

Because the agency failed to demonstrate that it used
any of these means, the court found a discriminatory
impact.
The court’s final task was to address TDHCA’s statute of
limitations and Eleventh Amendment immunity defenses.
Under judicial interpretations of the FHA’s two-year statute of limitations, the claim must be brought within the
last asserted occurrence of the practice.22 Because evidence
of discriminatory impact of tax credit approvals and denials was provided until immediately prior to the filing of
the complaint in 2008, the court rejected the statute of limitations defense. The court also quickly dispatched TDHCA’s immunity claim, relying on a prior case finding that
TDHCA’s predecessor agency was not an arm of the state
for Eleventh Amendment purposes, based on specified
criteria like independence and non-state funding.23
TDHCA now must prepare and submit a remedial
plan to the court by May 20, 2012.

Conclusion
Tax credits remain the primary vehicle for producing
new affordable housing units for low-income families. Yet
many states operate LIHTC programs in a similar fashion to Texas, with a disproportionate number of family
properties located in high-poverty neighborhoods with
significant concentrations of people of color and limited
access to quality schools, jobs and social services. Almost
any credit allocation agency can implement the kinds of
policies identified in the ICP decision in order to change
the outcomes of a project selection system that produces
consistently discriminatory results.24 Future policy advocacy in many states beckons. n
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HUD Takes Another Step
Toward Section 3 Compliance
in Long Beach*
The Department of Housing and Urban Development
(HUD) issued a press release on April 8 announcing its
approval of a voluntary compliance agreement (VCA)
with the city of Long Beach, California.1 The VCA follows
HUD’s 2004 ruling that the city failed to comply with Section 3 in construction of the Queensway Bay Project, and
HUD’s 2010 finding that the city failed to comply with a
HUD imposed restitution plan to compensate for the previous noncompliance.
The Carmelitos Tenants Association filed its administrative complaint against the city in 1998.2 It alleged violations of Section 3 of the Housing Act of 1998, as amended,3
and governing regulations.4 In particular, the complaint
cited the city’s failure to provide local residents who were
low- or very low-income with either employment or contracting opportunities at Queensway Bay “to the greatest
extent feasible.”5 Section 3 requires such efforts on construction projects funded with HUD housing and community development funds.
In 2005, the city executed the Queensway Bay Restitution Plan, which listed objectives and employment opportunities that it was committed to achieving within three
years, including:
•

provide no less than 3,000 hours of work to lowincome Long Beach residents on city-funded construction projects;

•

graduate, at a minimum, 50 local low-income participants from a pre-apprenticeship program, with
25 slots reserved for Long Beach residents of assisted
housing, and 25 slots reserved for at-risk young men
and women;

•

provide placement assistance for graduates of the
construction-training program and provide up to
$1,500 to each participant for purchase of tools, uniforms and other program necessities; and

*The author of this article is Dennis Rockway, formerly an attorney
with Legal Aid Foundation of Los Angeles.
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